PETITIONER'S INITIAL BRIEF

Attorney for Petitioner Anthony J. Abate, Esq. Donald D. Clark, Esq. Abel, Band, Brown, Russell & Collier, Chartered 1777 Main Street P. O. Box 49948 Sarasota, FL 34230-6948 813:366-6660

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, OBS COMPANY, INC., was the Plaintiff in a twocount action based upon a breach of contract and a statutory payment bond due to Defendant/Respondent's refusal to pay for work fully performed and accepted without objection. The Trial Court granted Summary Judgment in favor of Petitioner on Count I for breach of contract against PACE CONSTRUCTION CORP., the general contractor, and additionally granted Summary Judgment on Count II an action against the surety, TRANSAMERICA INSURANCE COMPANY and SEABOARD SURETY COMPANY, based upon the statutory payment bond. The Second District Court of Appeals reversed the Trial Court's decision and in doing so rendered a decision which directly conflicted with the decisions of the other District Courts of Appeal in the State of Florida. Accordingly, the Supreme Court for the State of Florida has granted conflict jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(IV), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure.

<u>FACTS</u>

The undisputed facts as found in the record are as follows. On March 28, 1985, Petitioner, OBS COMPANY, INC., entered into a Subcontract Agreement with Respondent, PACE CONSTRUCTION CORPORA-

TION, whereby OBS, as subcontractor, was to perform the framing, drywall, insulation and stucco work on a project known as "OUTLET WORLD OF PASCO COUNTY". (R = 061; App. 1.) In a wholly separate agreement from the Subcontract Agreement, PACE guaranteed payment to OBS and other claimants on the project by executing a Labor and Material Payment Bond as principal. (R-062-63; App. 12-13) TRANS-AMERICA INSURANCE COMPANY and SEABOARD SURETY COMPANY were together acting as surety under the Payment Bond. (R = 078-79; App. 12-13) Paragraph 2, Page 2, of the Payment Bond expressly states:

"The above-named PRINCIPAL (PACE) and SURETY (TRAN-SAMERICA and SEABOARD) hereby jointly and severally agree with the owner that <u>every claimant</u> (OBS) as herein defined, who has not been paid in full before the <u>expiration of a period of ninety (90) days after the date</u> upon which the last of such claimant's work or labor was <u>done or performed</u>, or materials were furnished by such claimant, <u>may sue on this Bond</u>..." (Record - 079; App. 13)

It is undisputed in the record that OBS fully, faithfully and diligently performed <u>all</u> of its work, that such work has been completed for over ninety (90) days, and that OBS'S work was satisfactory and accepted by the owner, architect and PACE.

(R-061-64) The sole basis for PACE refusing to make final payment in the amount of Forty-seven Thousand Nine Hundred Seventeen Dollars and Sixty Cents (\$47,917.60) under the Subcontract Agreementor honor its guaranteed payment obligations under the <u>separate</u> payment bond was its reliance on Article 6 of its preprinted Subcontract Agreement which it drafted. Article 6 provides:

"Final Payment of the balance of the Subcontract Price shall be made as follows:

- 6.1 Final Payment shall be the unpaid balance of the Subcontract Price, and shall become due when the Work described in this Subcontract is fully completed and performed in accordance with this Subcontract and the contract Documents and is satisfactory to Owner, Architect and Contractor.
- 6.2 Subcontractor's application for Final Payment shall be in the same form specified in Article 5 of this Subcontract.
- 6.3 In addition to any other requirements of this Subcontract and the Contract Documents, Final Payment shall not become due unless and until the following conditions precedent to Final Payment have been satisfied: (a) approval and acceptance of Subcontractor's work by Owner, Architect and Contractor, (b) delivery to Contractor of all manuals, "as-built" drawings, guarantees, and warranties for material and equipment furnished by Subcontractor, or any other documents required by the Contract Documents, (c) receipt of Final Payment for Subcontractor's work by contractor from Owner, (d) furnishing to Contractor of satisfactory evidence by Subcontractor that all labor and material accounts incurred by Subcontractor in connection with his work have been paid in full, (e) furnishings to Contractor a complete Affidavit, Release of Lien and Waiver of Claim by Subcontractor in the form attached hereto as Exhibit "D", and as required by the Contract Documents."

(R = 071; App. 71)

It is clear from the record, however, that the separate payment bond executed by PACE, <u>as principal</u>, and TRANSAMERICA and SEABOARD as surety, <u>did not</u> incorporate the <u>Subcontract</u> Agreement. (R-78; App. 12) The record is equally clear that PACE, <u>as principal</u>, and TRANSAMERICA and SEABOARD, <u>as surety</u>, under the payment bond promised to make payment within ninety (90) days after OBS had completed its work. (R-079; App. 13) Again, both PACE and the surety's sole defense for refusing to make payment to OBS was based

on the conflicting and separate language of the Subcontract Agreement.

The Subcontract Agreement also provides in Paragraph 1.1 that:

"The contract documents for this Subcontract consist of this Agreement and any exhibits attached hereto, <u>the</u> <u>aareement between the owner and the contractor</u> (PACE) of this project, <u>the conditions of the contract between the</u> <u>owner and the contractor</u> (General, supplemental and other conditions)..." (R = 065; App. 1)

Paragraph 11.2 of the contract between the owner and PACE states "all subcontracts shall conform to the requirements of the contract documents". (R = 089; App. 23) The contract between the owner and PACE was a cost-plus or "reimbursement" contract which, in Article 8, Paragraph 8.1.6, provides that the owner is to reimburse PACE for:

"<u>Payments made</u> by the contractor (PACE) to subcontractors for work performed pursuant to the subcontracts under this Agreement". (R = 087; App. 21)

Indeed, Article 5, Paragraph 5.1, provides that:

"The owner agrees to <u>reimburse</u> the contractor (PACE) for costs of work as defined in Article 8." (R - 086; App. 20)

Paragraph 9.9.2 of the General Conditions expressly provides that PACE is required to submit an:

"Affidavit that all payrolls, bills from materials and equipment, and other indebtedness connected with the work... <u>have been paid</u>..." <u>before</u> final payment from the owner became due. (App. 41)

Paragraph 14.2.1 of the General Conditions between the owner and PACE provided that PACE's failure to make prompt payment to subcontractors is a ground for termination by the owner. (App. 45)

Thus at one point, the Subcontract required the owner to pay

PACE before PACE was to pay OBS, however, in another portion of the Subcontract, required PACE to first pay OBS before the owner was required to pay PACE.

Moreover, Paragraph 5.3.1 of the General conditions requires PACE to:

"Identify to the subcontractor any term and condition of the proposed subcontract which may be at variance with the contract documents." (App. 36)

The record is silent and completely void of any notice that PACE informed or notified OBS in any form that Article 6 of the Subcontract Agreement, which required owner to first pay PACE before PACE was to pay OBS, was at variance with the remaining provisions of the Subcontract documents which required PACE to first pay OBS, before the owner was obligated to pay PACE. The terms of the Subcontract Agreement, therefore, clearly contains patent inconsistencies, ambiguities and repugnancies.

Since final payment was refused by PACE under the Subcontract Agreement and, additionally, under the separate payment bond, OBS filed a two count Complaint. (R-02-05) Count I sought damages against PACE for breach of the Subcontract Agreement. (R-02-03.) Count II was a separate action on the payment bond, and OBS sought damages <u>directly</u> against the surety. (R-03-05.) The Trial Court, after first considering three (3) separate Briefs from Respondents (R-096-102; 194-199; and 191-192) and two (2) Memorandums of Law from OBS (R-113-126; and 175-179), and further after an extensive hearing, found the Subcontract Agreement to be ambiguous, and granted summary judgement against PACE on Count I. (R-200-202.)

Additionally, the Trial Court granted summary judgement against the surety, TRANSAMERICA and SEABOARD, on the separate payment bond action in Count 11. (R-200-202.)

The District Court of Appeals for the Second District of Florida reversed the decision of the Trial Court by using the application of a common-law principle to defeat the statutory payment bond action. (App. 59-51) That decision directly conflicts with several decisions of other District Courts of Appeal in the State of Florida, including <u>Cohen vs Lungsford</u>, 362 So.2d 383 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978) and <u>Guin and Hunt, Inc. vs Huahes Supply, Inc.</u>, 335 So.2d 842 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976). That decision also indirectly conflicts with countless other decisions involving Florida Mechanics Lien Act and has recently created great uncertainty and unrest in Florida's construction industry and is of great public concern.

In addition, the Second District reversed the Trial Court's finding that the Subcontract Agreement was ambiguous and thus directly conflicts with this Court's decision in <u>Peacock Construc-</u> <u>tion Company vs Modern Air Conditioning, Inc., 353 So.2d 840 (Fla.</u> 1977). Accordingly, this Court has granted conflict jurisdiction under Article V, Section 3(b)(3) of the Florida Constitution and Rule 9.030(a)(2)(A)(IV), Florida Rules of Appellate Procedure. (App.52)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

At issue are two different documents, the Payment Bond and the Subcontract Agreement. Liability under the Payment Bond is determined by the terms of the Payment Bond, and in constructing the terms of the Bond, they must be interpreted strictly against the bonding company which prepared them.

The express terms of the Payment Bond in the case at hand are clear, PACE who executed the bond as principal and TRANSAMERICA and SEABOARD who executed the bond together as surety, jointly and severally guaranteed payment to all claimants, including OBS, ninety (90) days after their work was complete. Accordingly, PACE as principal under the Bond and TRANSAMERICA and SEABOARD as surety are jointly and severally liable to OBS for payment.

In addition, there is no doubt that the Bond in question is a Florida Statute Section 713.23 payment bond, as found by the Second District Court of Appeals. Indeed, the legislature in 1980 amended the statute to set the minimum requirements for all payment bonds. The statute expressly requires that, "<u>any form of (payment)</u> bond ... <u>shall be deemed</u> to include the condition" that "the contractor <u>shall promptly make payments</u> ... to all lienors (subcontractors)." Section 713.23(1)(a), Fla. Stat. (1985).

If the contractor does not promptly pay its subcontractor the statute guarantees "a <u>direct riaht</u> of action on the bond against the surety." Section 713.23(g), Fla. Stat. (1985). Since PACE did not make prompt payment to OBS, the surety is directly liable. Accordingly, under the express terms of the Bond, and pursuant to

Florida's Mechanic's Lien Act, both PACE, as Principal, and SEABOARD and TRANSAMERICA, as Surety, are jointly and severally liable to OBS.

The Second District Court of Appeals' decision confused the two separate obligations of PACE under the Payment Bond and under the Subcontract Agreement in applying a common-law suretyship principle which is, if the principal is not liable then neither is the surety. The Second District found that since payment was not yet due from PACE under the <u>separate</u> Subcontract Agreement, the surety was not liable. This Court, however, announced that commonlaw suretyship principle in <u>Cone v. Benjamin</u>, 8 So.2d 476, 480 (Fla. 1942), to wit:

"The liability of a surety is co-extensive with that of his principle, within the terms of the contract of <u>Suretyship</u>" (Emphasis added).

Within the "contract of suretyship," the payment bond, PACE the principal under the bond-suretyship contract is liable ninety (90) days after OBS completed its work. Since PACE, as principal under the payment bond-suretyship contract is liable, then so is the surety. Respondent's contention, therefore, raises no defense.

Indeed, Respondents contention also directly conflicts with the plain language of the statute. The statute mandates that PACE "shall promptly make payments" to all lienors, if it does not, a "<u>direct right</u>" on the bond exists against the surety. Sections 713.23(1)[a) and [g) respectively. Clearly, PACE and its surety are liable under the bond.

Since the Second District Court of Appeals failed to apply the express language of the statute and confused the application of the common-law suretyship principle, its decision directly conflicted with Cohen vs Lungsford, 362 So.2d 383 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978) and <u>Guin and Hunt, Inc. vs Huahes Supply, Inc.</u>, 335 So.2d 842-844 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976). In fact in Cohen, a case which addresses the same identical issue, the court held that the conditional payment language in the subcontract agreement could not defeat, limit or effect the surety's liability to the subcontractor. The Second District Court of Appeals' decision held just the opposite that the language did defeat the surety's liability to the subcontractor. The Second District opinion also directly conflicts with Guin which held that the subcontractor's rights in the bond are <u>vested</u> and that the owner or lender's non-payment would not defeat that right. The Second District Court of Appeals' decision was directly opposite, that the owner's non-payment defeated the subcontractor's right in the payment bond. The Second District Court of Appeals decision is clearly in error and should be reversed.

On the issue of liability under the Subcontract Agreement, the Second District Court of Appeals also erred in reversing the Trial Court's decision that PACE did not shift the risk of non-payment to OBS in the Subcontract Agreement. The terms of the Subcontract clearly contradict; at one point it states the owner must pay PACE before PACE pays OBS and in other sections states that PACE must pay OBS before the owner is required to pay or reimburse PACE.

The interpretation of an ambiguous contract which attempts to shift risk of owner non-payment to the subcontractor, must be construed in favor of the subcontractor. <u>Peacock Construction</u> <u>Company, Inc. vs Modern Air Conditioninu, Inc.</u>, 353 So.2d 840, 842-43 (Fla. 1977); <u>Snead Construction Corporation vs Langerman</u>, 369 So.2d 591 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978). Accordingly, the Second District Court of Appeals' decision conflicts with clear precedent.

Moreover, the Trial Court's interpretation of a contract should not be reversed by an appellate court unless it is clearly incorrect, unsupported by the evidence and no legal basis exists for the conclusion reached. The Second District never found that the Trial Court's decision was "clearly incorrect." The Trial Court's decision was clearly supported by the evidence, conflicting contract terms and legal authority. Clearly, the Second District Court of Appeals erred in reversing the Trial Court's correct decision.

The surety is directly liable under the payment bond, and PACE is additionally liable under the Subcontract Agreement, as the Trial Court found. It is respectfully requested that the Second District Court of Appeals' opinion be reversed and the Trial Court's decision be reinstated.

<u>A R G U M E N T</u>

.

POINT I: THE EXPRESS TERMS OF THE LABOR AND MATERIAL PAYMENT BOND AND THE SUPPLEMENTED CONDITIONS OF FLORIDA STATUTES SECTION 713.23 ARE DETERMINATIVE OF THE OBLIGATIONS OF PACE WHO EXECUTED THE BOND AS PRINCIPAL AND TRANSAMERICA AND SEABOARD WHO EXECUTED THE BOND AS SURETY.

At issue are two different documents. PACE, as principal, and TRANSAMERICA and SEABOARD together as surety, executed the payment bond which jointly and severally guaranteed payment to all claimants. (App. 12-13) PACE also executed a separate Subcontract Agreement as the general contractor. (App. 1-11) The issues relating to the Subcontract Agreement will be discussed in Point III.

OBS <u>directly</u> sued the surety, TRANSAMERICA and SEABOARD, in Count II of its Complaint for their liability under the express terms of the payment bond, and as statutorily permitted in Florida Statute Section 713.23(g) which states:

"Any lienor (subcontractor) shall have a direct riaht of action on the bond against the surety."

The liability of TRANSAMERICA and SEABOARD, as surety, is plainly expressed within the payment bond. The bond states:

"2. The above named principal (PACE) and surety (TRAN-SAMERICA and SEABOARD) hereby jointly and severally agree with the owner that every claimant as herein defined, who has not been paid in full before the expiration of a period of ninety (90) days after the date on which the last of such claimant's work or labor was done or performed, or materials were furnished, may sue on this bond..." (R-079; App. 13)

There is no dispute that OBS is a claimant under the bond. OBS entered into a contract with PACE on or about March 28, 1985, and a claimant is defined within the bond as:

• 1 I. ¹I'

"one having a direct contract with the principal (PACE)..." (App. 13)

Accordingly, since there is no dispute that OBS is a claimant, the terms of the bond clearly require payment from the surety ninety (90) days after the work has been complete. Even if there were an ambiguity in the terms of the bond, it must be resolved against the surety.

"Florida has viewed construction bonds as contracts of insurance, and therefore in <u>constructing the terms of</u> <u>these contracts</u>, they must be read and interpreted <u>strictly against the bonding company which prepared them</u> (citations omitted)". <u>Travelers Indemnity Company vs</u> <u>Housing Authority of the City of Miami</u>, 256 So.2d 230, 234 (Fla 3rd DCA 1972).

The terms of the payment bond-contract in the case at hand promised payment ninety (90) days after work was complete, if there is any ambiguity in that promise it must be strictly interpreted against the bonding company. There should be no issue that the surety, TRANSAMERICA and SEABOARD, is clearly liable.

Moreover, both the Trial Court and the Second District Court of Appeals agree that the payment bond issued by PACE, TRANSAMERICA and SEABOARD is a Florida Statute Section 713.23 payment bond, and as such contains the minimum requirements and conditions set forth in the Statute. Florida Statute Section 713.23(1)(a) provides:

"any form of bond given by a contractor conditioned to pay for labor, services and materials used to improve real property <u>shall be deemed</u> to include the condition of this Subsection." (Emphasis added)

The condition of that Subsection is that the payment bond shall be conditioned that "the contractor (PACE) shall promptly make payment...to all lienors (subcontractors) under the contractors direct contract." Florida Statute Section 713.23(1)(a) (1985). If the contractor fails to "promptly make payments" to all lienors, then a "lienor", as defined in Florida Statute Section 713.01(10) which includes "a subcontractor", is statutorily guaranteed "a direct right of action on the bond against the (Emphasis added.) Florida Statute Section 713.23(g) surety." (1985). Accordingly, not only do the terms of the payment bond contract guarantee payment to OBS within ninety (90) days after the work was performed, but the Statute also mandates a direct right of action on the bond against the surety since OBS did not receive prompt payment. Liability quite simply could not be clearer under the bond and the Statute.

1. 1.0

Because the Second District Court of Appeals found that the <u>separate Subcontract Aqreement</u> had a condition precedent to PACE'S obligation to pay OBS, namely the owners payment to PACE, the Court incorrectly found that the surety could not be liable under the <u>separate</u> statutory payment bond action. The Second District Court of Appeals confused the two separate obligations of PACE in applying a common-law suretyship principle to defeat the statutory payment bond action.

The common-law suretyship principle asserted by Respondent is simple where the principal is not liable, then neither is the surety. This court announced this common-law suretyship in prin-

ciple in <u>Cone vs Benjamin</u>, 8 So.2d 476 (Fla. 1942) when Justice Chapman explained:

"The liability of a surety is co-extensive with that of his principal, within the terms of the contract of Suretyship..." (Emphasis added) Id. at 480.

Respondents assertion, therefore, provides <u>no</u> defense to the bond payment claim and was misunderstood by the Second District Court of Appeals.

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