IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

OBS COMPANY, INC.,

Petitioner,

SUPREME COURT CASE NO. 73,296

vs

a

PACE CONSTRUCTION CORPORATION, APPEAL NO. FROM SECOND TRANSAMERICA INSURANCE COMPANY, DISTRICT COURT OF APPEALS: and SEABOARD SURETY COMPANY,

Respondents.

87-2954

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER BRIEF

Attorneys for Petitioner:

J.D. Humphries, 111, Esq. VARNER, STEPHENS, WINGFIELD, MCINTYRE & HUMPHRIES 1000 Grant Building 44 Broad Street Atlanta, Georgia 30303 (404)522-2020

and

J.M. Crowder, Esq. CROWDER & O'FRIEL Suite 1006 315 East Madison Tampa, Florida 33602 (813)224 - 9888

#

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

Where, as in this case, the language of a contract is unambiguous, the legal effect of such language is a question of law for determination by the Court, and not a jury. <u>Orkin</u> <u>Exterminating Co., Inc. v. F.T.C.</u>, **849** F.2d **1354**, 1360 (11th Cir. **1988)**; <u>Mason Drug Co.</u>, Inc. v. Harris, **597** F.2d **886**, **887** 

-15-

(5th Cir. 1979). The Second DCA, the Middle District of Florida and Lambert have held that there is no need for judicial interpretation of the "pay when paid" clause before this Court at all because (a) there is no ambiguity and (b) no conflicting provisions exist. However, "when a conflict arises under a contract, and such conflict requires construction of possibly inconsistent provisions ..., the general rule of construction requires that provisions stated in general terms must yield to those stated in specific terms." Cypress Gardens Citrus Products. Inc. v. Bowen Bros., Inc., 223 So. 2d 776 (Fla. 2d DCA 1969). Specific or particular provisions of an agreement always supersede conflicting provision which have been stated in general Suncoast Building of St. Petersburs. Inc. v. Russell, terms. 105 So. 2d 809 (Fla. 2d DCA 1958). The individual terms of a contract are to be considered not in isolation but as a whole, in relation to one another, with specific language always controlling the general. Bystra v. Fed. Land Bank of Columbia, 72 Fla. 472, 90 So. 478 (1921); see also, 4 S. Williston, A Treatise on the Law of Contracts § 618 (3d ed. 1961).

Here, no conflicting provisions are at issue. In the face of a clear provision directly on point, Petitioner seeks to create ambiguity where none exists by referring to other documents.

-16-

[I]t must be assumed that each clause has some purpose, and if the question is . . whether clauses are compatible or contradictory, the court should interpret the contract in such a way as to give effect to every provision.

Hillsborough County Aviation Authority v. Cone Bros. Contracting Co., 285 So. 2d 619, 621 (Fla. 2d DCA 1973).

A court may not violate the clear meaning of a contract provision by judicially creating an ambiguity by "interpretation" when there is no ambiguity, and no interpretation is necessary. <u>Voelker v. Combined Ins. Co. of</u> <u>America</u>, 73 So. 2d 403, 408 (Fla. 1954). The corollary is that a court must give clear and unambiguous language no meaning other than that expressed. <u>Hamilton Constr. Co. v.</u> <u>Board of Public Instruction of Dade County</u>, 65 So. 2d 729 (Fla. 1953); <u>Bay Manasement, Inc. v. Beau Monde, Inc.</u>, 366 So. 2d 788 (Fla. 2d DCA 1979). Contract words must be accorded their natural and common sense meaning. <u>See Ennis</u> <u>v. Warm Mineral Springs, Inc.</u>, 203 So. 2d 514 (Fla. 2d DCA 1967) <u>reh'g denied</u>, 210 So. 2d 870 (1968).

The language of paragraph 6.3 of the Subcontract is plain, crystal clear and unambiguous. Such language does not require judicial construction. For such reason, the Second DCA court did not err by giving effect to the Subcontract's plain words. The decisions of this Court in <u>Peacock</u>, <u>Cohen</u> <u>v. Mohawk, Inc.</u>, 137 So. 2d 222 (Fla. 1962) and <u>Balles v.</u> <u>Lake Weir Light & Water Co.</u>, 100 Fla. 913, 130 So. 421, 423

-17-

(Fla. 1930) are directly on point. <u>DEC Electric</u>, <u>Dyser</u>, <u>Wilson</u>, <u>Mathews</u> and <u>Lambert</u> are also totally in accord and cannot be distinguished. <u>Accord</u>, the decision being reviewed by this Court and Scarborough (Respondents' Appendix, p. 1).

- 11. THE SURETY HAS NO GREATER LIABILITY THAN ITS PRINCIPAL, HAS ANY DEFENSE AVAILABLE TO ITS PRINCIPAL, AND HAS NO PRESENT LIABILITY ON THE PAYMENT BOND.
  - A. <u>Introduction</u>.

\*

Petitioner has asserted that Pace and the Surety are liable under the terms of the bond: that the Surety has greater liability than Pace and that the Surety cannot assert its principal's (Pace's) contractual defenses. Petitioner asserts no cases in support of its position.

On the other hand, Respondents can demonstrate that the primary purpose of a contractor payment bond, common law or statutory, is that if the contractor defaults in its obligation to a lienor, then the surety is liable, not the In other words, by agreeing to act as surety, the owner. bonding company stands in the shoes of the contractor. if the contractor is liable, then the surety is liable. Conversely, if the contractor is not liable, then the surety is not liable. If the contractor has a valid defense against a subcontractor's claim, then a surety has the right to assert the contractor's defense. Numerous decisions in construction bond cases have upheld and applied common law suretyship principles, <u>i.e.</u>, a surety liability is co-

-18-

terminus with its principal and a surety can generally assert the defense of its principal, specifically a principal's contractual defense.

## B. <u>The Surety Has No Greater Liability Than</u> <u>Its Principal</u>.

Since Pace is not liable to Petitioner, the Surety is not liable.

The Surety's liability to Petitioner is co-extensive, co-terminus, equal to and not greater than Pace's liability to Petitioner. <u>Aetna Cas. & Surety Co. v. Warren Bros. Co.</u>, 355 So. 2d 785 (Fla. 1978) ("Aetna") (construction payment bond); <u>Cone v. Benjamin</u>, 8 So. 2d 476, 480, 150 Fla. 419 (1942); Pace Construction Corporation v. OBS Company, Inc., 531 So. 2d 737 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988) reh/g denied 1988; U.S. Fidelity & Guar. Co. v. Miami Sheet Metal Prods., Inc., 516 So. 2d 29 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987) (statutory bond); School Board of Pinellas County v. St. Paul Fire & Marine Ins. Co., 449 So. 2d 872, 874 (Fla. 2d DCA 1984); Cincinnati Ins. Co. v. Putnam, 335 So. 2d 855 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976); McGuire v. Consolidated Electrical Supply, Inc., 329 So. 2d 411 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976); National Union Fire Ins. Co. v. Robuck, 203 So. 2d 204 (Fla. 1st DCA 1967) <u>cert. denied</u>, 209 So. 2d 672 (Fla. 1968); Florida ex rel Westinghouse Electric Supply Co. v. Wesley Construction Co., 316 F. Supp. 490 (S.D. Fla. 1970); Scarborough Constructors, Inc. v. Pace Construction Corp., (M.D. Fla. 1987) (decision in Respondent's Appendix);

-19-

<u>see also</u>, 28 Fla. Jur. 2d, <u>Guaranty and Suretyship</u>, § 42 (1981).

## C. <u>The Surety Has Any Defense Available To</u> <u>Its Principal</u>.

A surety has available to it all defenses that its principal has, including contractual defenses, and excepting only purely personal defenses. <u>Bear v. Duval Lumber Co.</u>, 112 Fla. 240, 150 So. 614 (1933) (statutory lien transfer bond); United States Fidelity & Guaranty Co. v. Miami Sheet Metal Products, Inc., 516 So. 2d 29 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987) (statutory bond); L. Lieby, Florida Construction Law Manual, § 10.22 Surety Defense (2d ed. 1988); See also, Rhode Island Hosp. Trust Nat'l Bank v. Ohio Cas. Ins. Co., 789 F.2d 74, 78 (1st Cir, 1986); Cobb Bank & Trust Co. v. American Mfg's, Mut. Ins. Co., 624 F.2d 722, 726 (5th Cir. 1980) (Ga.); <u>Central</u> Stikstof VerKoopKantoor, N.V. v. Alabama State Docks Dept., 415 F.2d 452, 458 (5th Cir. 1969) (Ala.); Egyptian American Bank, S.A.E. v. U.S., 13 Ct. Cl. 337 (1987); Mason C. Day Excavating, Inc. v. Crowder Constr. Co., Inc., 676 F. Supp. 670, 675 (W.D.N.C. 1987).

Petitioner claims that the Second District Court of Appeals, in the underlying decision, "misunderstood" or "misapplied" common law suretyship principals. Petitioner asserts that a statutory bond creates an independent cause of action against Respondents on the bond itself immune from Florida suretyship principles in general and in particular,

-20-

from any defense created by Petitioner's Subcontract with Pace. Petitioner does not cite one case which holds that Florida suretyship principles do not apply to statutory bonds. Moreover, § 713.23 Fla. Stat. does not specifically abrogate common law suretyship principles asserted by Respondents herein and below.

This Court has specifically recognized and approved that a surety's liability to a subcontractor on a construction payment bond is determined by the liability of the contractor under the terms of the subcontract in <u>Aetna Cas. & Surety Co.</u> v. Warren <u>Bros.</u>, 355 So. 2d 785 (Fla. 1978) ("<u>Aetna</u>"). <u>Aetna</u> held that a general contractor's liability to a subcontractor is determined by the subcontract's terms, which in turn resolves a surety's liability on the companion payment bond.

In the case <u>sub</u> judice, [the general contractor] was obligated to render payment to respondent/subcontractor according to the terms of the subcontract. As surety of this obligation, petitioner, Aetna Casualty, stood in the shoes of [the general contractor] for the purpose of guaranteeing payment to [the subcontractor] according to the subcontract Because petitioner's obligation terms. under its bond agreement was commensurate with that of [the general contractor] under the subcontract, the circuit judge correctly decided the issue of the parties' intention with respect to the payment provision in question as a matter of law on motion for summary judgment, consistent with this court's recent decision in <u>Peacock</u>.

<u>Aetna</u> at 787-88 (emphasis supplied) (citations omitted).

<u>Lieby</u> specifically addresses the question now before this Court stating: "The defense of failure to properly comply with the terms of the contract is available to the surety. <u>This would include the defense of a condition</u> <u>precedent to payment clause</u>." [Emphasis Added]. <u>Liebv</u>, § 10.22, Surety Defenses at 277.

The logic of <u>Aetna</u> has also been recognized by the Florida legislature. The Florida legislature has recognized the fundamental and basic requirement of liability on the underlying contract as a predicate for surety liability in enacting § 627.756 Fla. Stat. dealing with attorney's fees on construction surety bond claims such as present in this case. Such statute requires as a <u>condition precedent</u> to surety liability for attorney's fees on a construction payment bond that there be a breach of the underlying "<u>construction</u> <u>contract</u>". Such statute therefore expressly recognizes the causal relationship between the surety's liability on its bond and the contract it relates to.

а

Moreover, Petitioner has admitted by its pleadings that the Subcontract is necessary and essential to its bond claim. Petitioner specifically plead as an element of its bond claim the Subcontract in question. See paragraphs 13 and 6 of the Complaint. Moreover, in paragraph 15 of its Complaint, Petitioner alleges that the Subcontract governs the relationship of Pace and Petitioner. It is clear by

-22-

Petitioner's own pleadings that the Surety's liability under the bond is based upon Pace's and Petitioner's contractual relationship.

## D. <u>Neither Pace Nor The Surety Are Liable</u> <u>Under The Terms Of The Bond Or § 713.23</u> <u>Fla. Stat</u>.

Petitioner asserts that both Pace and the Surety are liable under the bond contract and § 713.23(1) (a) Fla. Stat. because the bond's condition is that Petitioner be paid sums "justly due" "within ninety days," and the bond statute provides that Petitioner shall be "paid promptly".

There is one monumental insurmountable problem with Petitioner's claim that Pace is liable in this case under the terms of the bond or § 713.23 Fla. Stat. As Petitioner admits, Pace was never sued under the terms of the bond or § 713.23 Fla. Stat. Apparently Petitioner believes it can amend its Complaint and move for Summary Judgment against Pace in its Brief to the Florida Supreme Court. Petitioner asserts no authority for this novel proposition.

Petitioner argues that the Surety is liable under terms of the bond and § 713.23 Fla. Stat. The quoted bond provisions in Petitioner's Brief are either taken out of context or considered in a vacuum.

Petitioner ignores extremely relevant and illustrative provisions in the bond. Petitioner totally fails to discuss

-23-

or explain the import to the Court of the following pivotal pavment bond language: "(C)laimant, may sue on this bond for § 6the use of such claimant, prosecute the suit to final judgment for such sum or sums as may be justly due claimant, and have execution thereon." [Emphasis added]. (Petitioner's Appendix, p. 13, ¶ 2).

How can sums "justly due" be quantified, or the time of payment ascertained, absent reference to the Subcontract? Unless there is a present liability on the Subcontract for labor and materials, there is no bond claim to make. <u>Cf.</u> <u>Advance Alarm Technology, Inc. v. Pavilion Assoc.</u>, 536 N.Y.S.2d 127, 129 (N.Y. 2d App. Div. 1988).

<u>Aetna</u> clearly holds that a necessary predicate to a surety's liability under a payment bond is a finding that the principal's obligations under the subcontract have ripened into a present and <u>due</u> claim. Pace's payment obligation under the Subcontract is directly dependent and conditioned upon payment by the owner. Accordingly, the Surety's obligation remains inchoate in this case because performance was not due under <u>Aetna</u>.

The "prompt payment" language under § 713.23 Fla. Stat. is absolutely meaningless unless one asks, "prompt payment of what?" That question can only be answered by referring to the contract of the claimant and a determination of what is <u>due</u> under such contract. Unless it is "<u>due</u>" there is nothing to

-24-

"promptly pay". The claimant is free by his contract, without running afoul of § 713.23 Fla. Stat., to determine not only what is due, but if it is due. He can also fix the method, time and risk of payment as he chooses. Section 713.23 Fla. Stat. does not require "prompt payment" unless and until a payment is "due". Any bond issued pursuant to the statute must necessarily be considered in connection with the underlying subcontract to which the claim relates to.

Construing either the bond or § 713.23 Fla. Stat. without reference to the underlying subcontract is impossible. Two questions must be answered that the bond's four corners do not address: What is due? and, If it is due? Courts, including this one in <u>Aetna</u>, have addressed this question in the past with uniform results.

The statute cannot be judicially expanded to require payment irrespective of Petitioner's own Subcontract as Petitioner urges. If the legislature had intended to limit Petitioner's ability to determine <u>what</u> it was due, **if** it was due, it would have so stated by providing that payment would be due upon the furnishing of labor of materials, etc., anything to the contrary notwithstanding. No such legislative intent is manifest by the statute. It does define when "promptly" starts: <u>i.e.</u>, furnishing of labor, payment to the general contractor, or any other event. Therefore, Petitioner is free to enter into a contract which establishes a "due

-25-

date" from which "promptly" can be measured. This makes sense because numerous issues such as extra work, backcharges and other claims need to be resolved before an amount "due" can be determined on every subcontract.

a

а

а

а

a

a

When considering a federal statutory bond dealing with sums "justly due", the "old" Fifth Circuit stated it this way: "Any obligation under the bond must derive from a contractual obligation, and an action on the bond cannot precede a determination of the contract debt." J.S. & H. Constr. Co. v. Richmond County Hosp. Auth., 473 F.2d 212, 217 (5th Cir. 1973). Subsequently, the "new" Fifth Circuit specifically addressed the question again, when responding to an argument that a statutory bond claim must be addressed independently and mutually exclusively of the underlying contract between a general and subcontractor:

This argument proves too much. The Private Works Act does not obliterate the contract on which the underlying liability of both the contractor and the surety are based. A subcontractor can sue the surety for payment on the contract if the contractor does not or cannot fulfill its obligations, but that suit is still based on the contract between the contractor and subcontractor. It follows that the interpretation of the "pay when paid" clauses will determine the underlying liability and also, therefore, the liability of <code>(sureties).</code> (Emphasis Added) (Louisiana statute and law).

Pacific Lining Co. v. Algernon-Blair Constr. Co., 812 F.2d 237 (5th Cir. 1987) at 241-42.

-26-

## E. <u>There Is No Conflict With The Underlying</u> <u>Decision And The Cohen And Guin Cases</u>.

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